AS

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Appeal from Greenville County
Court of General Sessions

APR 27 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-001648

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

PERRY ROY EICHOR,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHEN J. HENRY
406 Pettigru St.
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 232-9700

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err by refusing to charge the jury with respect to the obstruction of justice and misconduct of a public official indictments that the state had to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the communication was made for the purpose of issuing a threat or that the defendant knew the communication would be viewed as a threat?
2. Did the trial court err by refusing to charge the jury that evidence of good character may in and of itself create doubt as to the defendant's guilt?
3. Did the trial court err by refusing to charge the jury that where a communication has both a threatening and a nonthreatening interpretation that the state has the burden to present evidence to remove the ambiguity?
4. Did the trial court err by refusing to charge the jury that the state has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that any threat made by the defendant had to have been made with the specific intent to execute it?
5. Did the trial court err by not fully charging Appellant's jury charge request on good character after approving it during the charge conference?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Perry Eichor, was indicted for the crimes of obstruction of justice, misconduct of a public official, and intimidation of a court official by the Greenville County Grand Jury. A jury trial was held on June 8-9, 2015, the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell presiding. The Appellant was represented at trial by Stephen J. Henry. The state was represented at trial by Assistant Solicitor Lisa Bentley. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on the charges of obstruction of justice and misconduct of a public official. The jury returned a verdict of not guilty on the charge of intimidation of a court official. The Appellant was sentenced to three years in prison suspended upon the service of one year probation. The Appellant filed a motion for a new trial which was denied. The Appellant thereafter filed a timely notice of appeal. The Appellant is represented by his trial counsel on this appeal.

ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO CHARGE THE JURY WITH RESPECT TO THE OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE AND MISCONDUCT OF A PUBLIC OFFICIAL INDICTMENTS THAT THE STATE HAD TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT THE COMMUNICATION WAS MADE FOR THE PURPOSE OF ISSUING A THREAT OR THAT THE DEFENDANT KNEW THE COMMUNICATION WOULD BE VIEWED AS A THREAT.

Appellant's request to charge number eight reads as follows:

"The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the communication in this case was made by the defendant for the purpose of issuing a threat or that the defendant knew that the communication would be viewed as a threat." (Request to Charge Number 8)

Appellant's request to charge number eight came from the United States Supreme Court decision of Elonis v. U.S., 135 S. Ct. 2001 (2015). Anthony Elonis was charged with violation of 18 U.S.C. §875 (c) which makes it a crime to transmit in interstate commerce any communication containing a threat to injure another. After his wife and children left him Elonis gave himself a new name and posted graphic and violent lyrics on his Facebook page. He included disclaimers and claimed his writing was therapeutic. He was indicted for making threats to people at work, his estranged wife, police officers, a kindergarten class and others. He asked for a jury instruction that the government had to prove that he intended to communicate a threat. That request was denied by the federal court trial judge. The prosecutor argued to the jury that what Elonis thought "doesn't matter".

On appeal the Third Circuit affirmed Elonis's convictions finding that the intent requirement under §875 (c) was the intent to communicate words that the defendant understands and that a reasonable person would view as a threat. U.S. v. Elonis, 730 F.3d 321 (3rd Cir, 2013). See also the recent Fourth Circuit case of U.S. v. White, ___ F. 3d ___ (4th Cir. January 7, 2016)

The Supreme Court found the jury charge given by the trial court and upheld by the court of appeals to be an unacceptable negligence standard. The Court said that the mental state requirement under §875 (c) could only be met "if a defendant transmits a communication for the purpose of issuing a threat, or with knowledge that the communication will be viewed as a threat."

This language from Elonis forms the basis of Appellant's request to charge number eight. In the present case the trial judge agreed with Appellant that the jury charge was correct and that it applied to all three offenses. He gave the charge word-for-word; but only for one of the three cases. He should have given the charge for all three indictments.

The trial judge gave instructions on each of the indictments separately. ROA. pp. 224-226. He first charged the jury on obstruction of justice. ROA. p. 224, line 12 – p.225, line 2. He did not charge request number 8.

Next the trial judge charged the jury on intimidation of a court official. He gave request to charge number 8 exactly as written:

"The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the communication was made by the Defendant for the purpose of issuing a threat or that the Defendant knew that the communication would be viewed as a threat." ROA. p. 225, lines 13-17

Finally, the trial judge charged the jury on the misconduct of a public official indictment. Again, he did not charge request number 8.

After the trial judge released the jury to review his jury instructions with the lawyers, Appellant's trial counsel took exception to the trial judge's failure to give request to charge number 8 with respect to two of the indictments:

"MR. HENRY: The charge you gave on the Elonis charge, number eight that I submitted.
THE COURT: Yes, sir.
MR. HENRY: Which you did give.
THE COURT: Yes, sir.
MR. HENRY: I believe you isolated it to the second indictment only. I think it needs to be for all three indictments and made clear that it covers all the threats in all three cases. And that takes care of it." ROA. p. 230 lines 4-13

Following some discussion with the judge about other jury charge exceptions, Appellant's trial counsel came back to jury charge number eight:

"MR. HENRY: You didn't address number eight being isolated to one of the indictments. Did you intend for it to just be the one case?
THE COURT: Well, you know, I recognize your position in that regard and I think that I charged it generally. I recognized it as a placeholder in the entire charge that it came after the one particularized indictment." ROA. p. 231, line 25 – p. 232, line 7

At that point it appeared that the trial judge was considering bringing the jury back into the courtroom and recharging the jury, this time to include Appellant's request to charge number 8 for all three indictments. He asked the prosecutor if she had an issue with him correcting the charge. ROA. p. 232, lines 8-10.

The prosecutor objected saying that to recharge number 8 would "give it undo (sic) influence" and that she believed "the jury heard it" ROA. p. 232, lines 11-14. The trial judge then decided not to make the correction. ROA. p. 232, lines 15-18.

Appellant believes that the jury did hear request to charge number 8 but only as to the intimidation of a court official indictment which is the only indictment for which the trial judge included that instruction.

The jury found Appellant not guilty for the crime of intimidation of a court official and guilty for the crimes of misconduct of a public official and obstruction of justice. ROA. p. 235, lines 9-19.

The jury acquitted Appellant on the only charge for which the trial judge gave jury charge number eight and convicted him for the other two charges where jury charge number eight was omitted.

The trial judge left out jury charge number eight on two of Appellant's three indictments. This initial omission was probably inadvertent. When given an opportunity to correct the jury instruction error, the trial judge chose not to do so. The failure to properly instruct the jury on this critical intent issue was error. Appellant was clearly prejudiced by the error and is entitled to a new trial.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO CHARGE THE JURY THAT GOOD CHARACTER MAY IN AND OF ITSELF CREATE A DOUBT AS TO THE DEFENDANT'S GUILT.

Appellant's request to charge number two reads as follows:

"Evidence of the defendant's good character and good reputation may in and of itself create doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury, along with all of the other evidence, in determining the guilt or innocence

of the defendant.” (Request to Charge Number 2)

The trial court gave the following charge as to the defendant’s character:

“Now, ladies and gentlemen, in your consideration of this case, you may consider evidence of the Defendant’s character along with all the evidence in deciding whether or not the Defendant committed the crime.” ROA p. 226, lines 20-24.

During his closing argument and based upon his understanding of the instructions the trial judge had agreed to give the jury following the charge conference ROA. p. 194, lines 5-7, including in particular request to charge number 2, trial counsel made the following argument to the jury:

“... I’m expecting the Judge to give you a charge at the end of the case that Perry’s good character alone is enough to justify a not guilty verdict.” ROA. p. 210, lines 14-17.

After the judge charged the jury, Appellant objected to the trial judge’s failure to give the good character charge as he had requested and as discussed in the charge conference:

“... I think you left out the part on good character that says that evidence may in and of itself create doubt as to guilt. I would like that added.” ROA. p.229, lines 17-20.

In response the trial judge said the following:

“I think that the character charge was a direct recitation of the law outstanding in the State of South Carolina. I’m not going to change that. I respect your position on the same and I appreciate it, but I think my charge was a recitation of the law.” ROA. p. 230, lines 16-22.

In State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982) the Supreme Court stated:

“Generally where requested and there is evidence of good character, a defendant is entitled to an instruction to the effect that evidence of good character and good reputation may in

and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury, along with all the other evidence, in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant.”

To warrant reversal a trial judge’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial. State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 529 S.E.2d 721 (2000). The trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 515 S.E.2d 104 (1999).

The trial court determined correctly that the evidence in the record supported a jury charge concerning the defendant’s good character. The trial judge simply, but importantly, failed to give the complete and correct good character charge to the jury. In this case the crimes charged were all based upon a single conversation between a city judge and a city mayor. Good character mattered in determining credibility. The trial judge’s failure to give the whole charge, particularly given the facts of this case, was prejudicial error entitling Appellant to a new trial.

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO CHARGE THE JURY THAT WHERE A COMMUNICATION HAS BOTH A THREATENING AND A NONTHREATENING INTERPRETATION THAT THE STATE HAS THE BURDEN TO PRESENT EVIDENCE TO REMOVE THE AMBIGUITY.

Appellant’s request to charge number four reads as follows:

“When a communication contains language which is equally susceptible of two interpretations, one threatening, and the other nonthreatening, the state carries the burden of presenting evidence to remove that ambiguity. If the state does not remove that ambiguity beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the defendant not guilty.” (Request to Charge Number 4)

Appellant cited the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals decision of U.S. v. Barclay, 452 F.2d 930 (8th Cir. 1971) for the proposed jury instruction. The trial judge rejected this request to charge. After the jury charge had been given Appellant objected to the trial court's refusal to give this instruction as follows:

"I want to preserve my objection to charge number four, which is the charge on ambiguous. I think we've already discussed that. I just wanted to make that for the record. That's under U.S. v. Barkley. I won't put the whole instruction on there, but it's charge number four." ROA. p. 229, lines 20-25.

The trial judge responded to the objection as follows:

"That specific case, I know that you had wanted me to charge, request to charge number four; is that correct?"

"Okay. I want to make sure I referred to it correctly. About the ambiguous nature of the threat and how they must prove beyond a reasonable doubt, I don't take exception to that as being a proposition of law. However, as we discussed in chambers, that's from an Eighth Circuit case. That is not – that has not been recited as the law in the State of South Carolina. And I'm not saying that it's not, but I chose not to charge that because I felt like it was, perhaps a commentary on the facts and I wanted – I think it's important for the judge – for the Court to give a general charge on the law and avoid making particularized charges on the facts. That was my concern. So I'll deny your motion in that regard. But you're protected on the record, certainly." ROA p. 231, lines 1-22.

The trial judge did not disagree with the proposed ambiguous threat charge as a correct statement of the law but refused the request because the issue has not been decided by the South Carolina appellate courts. Other courts have cited the Barclay principle on ambiguous threats although in most of those

decisions the appeals courts determined that the threat at issue was not ambiguous. U.S. v. Malik, 16 F.3d 45 (2nd Cir 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 968 (1994); Martin v. U.S., 691 F.2d 1235 (8th Cir 1982).

The facts alleged in all three indictments were the same: that Appellant told the city judge that the case would be tried in his (the judge's) court and "you work for the city council". ROA p. 148, lines 17-18; ROA p. 148, line 25-p. 149, line1.

The words spoken to the city judge by Appellant, according to the city judge himself, had more than one possible meaning.

The obstruction of justice indictment alleged "an implicit threat" and the misconduct of a public official indictment alleged "an implied threat". It was not a direct threat. And unlike most of the cases dealing with written or verbal threats, this was not a threat to do bodily harm.

The city judge's testimony about the implied threat was susceptible of more than one meaning, including a nonthreatening one. The city judge apparently did not even know he had been threatened when it first happened. He did not report it right away ROA p. 156, lines 4-6 and "mulled it around for days and days and days". ROA p. 156, lines 10-11. Then he consulted with people close to him about what had happened including his wife, his children, his brothers and his sisters. ROA p. 156, lines 23-24. He asked each of these people how they would perceive Appellant's statements. ROA p. 157, lines 1-2. The city judge testified that he could understand how Appellant's words could have been given different interpretations by others. ROA p. 170, lines 13-15.

Appellant gave the trial court a reasonable jury charge that fit the facts of this case and provided a sound legal basis for the jury instruction.

Given that factual background, for the trial judge not to give the jury legal guidance on what they should do if they found the alleged implied threat to be unclear or ambiguous was error requiring reversal of Appellant's convictions.

4. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY REFUSING TO CHARGE THE JURY THAT THE STATE HAS THE BURDEN OF PROVING BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT ANY THREAT MADE BY THE DEFENDANT HAD TO HAVE BEEN MADE WITH THE SPECIFIC INTENT TO EXECUTE IT.

Appellant's request to charge number seven reads as follows:

"The state has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that any threat made by the defendant was made with the specific intent to execute it." (Request to Charge Number 7)

The trial judge did not charge this request. Appellant's trial counsel and the trial judge had the following discussion about the court's decision not to give this jury instruction:

"MR. HENRY: "All right. There is one more, Judge that we talked about in chambers, which you said you were not going to charge. That was number seven.

THE COURT: Yes, sir.

MR. HENRY: On the burden of the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that any threat made by the Defendant was made with the specific intent to execute it. You rejected that. I just to make sure I'm protected on the record.

THE COURT: Yes, sir, you are. ROA p. 232, line 19 to p. 233, line 4.

Appellant's request to charge number seven was an attempt to have the trial judge clarify for the jury the intent element applicable in threat cases. The key case is Elonis v. U.S., 135 S. Ct. 2001 (2015). Anthony Elonis was convicted

in federal court of violating 18 U.S.C. §875 (c) which makes it a crime to transmit in interstate commerce “any communication containing any threat ... to injure the person of another.”

Elonis made many Facebook statements which formed the basis of the indictments against him for threatening patrons and employees of the amusement park where he had worked. He was also indicted for threats to his estranged wife, police officers, a kindergarten class and an FBI agent.

At trial Elonis moved to dismiss the indictments arguing that although he intentionally made the communications, he did not intend them as threats. The federal trial judge denied the motion. Elonis also requested a jury instruction that “the government must prove that he intended to communicate a true threat”. The trial judge denied the request and charged the jury as follows:

“A statement is a true threat when a defendant intentionally makes a statement in a context or under such circumstances wherein a reasonable person would foresee that the statement would be interpreted by those to whom the maker communicates the statement as a serious expression of an intention to inflict bodily injury or take the life of an individual”

The government argued in its closing that it did not matter what the defendant thought about the communications he made. Elonis was convicted on four of the five counts. The Third Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed his convictions stating that the intent requirement of the federal statute at issue is the intent to communicate words defendant understands and that a reasonable person would view as a threat.

Chief Justice Roberts wrote the opinion for the Supreme Court reversing Elonis's conviction and remanded the case.

In Appellant's case both of the charges for which he was convicted were common law crimes. There is no statutory mental element upon which to rely. The judge charged the jury on the intent to obstruct justice and acting with dishonesty and corruption on the misconduct in office offense. In addition he gave a general charge on criminal intent.

The trial judge's full jury instruction on the obstruction of justice indictment was as follows:

"The Defendant is charged with obstruction of justice. the State must first prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed an act which prevented, obstructed, impeded or hindered the administration of justice. The State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant did the act with the intent to obstruct justice. The Defendant does not have to succeed in the effort to obstruct justice. It is enough that some act was done in furtherance of the attempt to obstruct justice. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed some act in furtherance of his endeavor to obstruct justice." ROA p. 224, line 14 - p. 225, line 2.

The trial judge's full jury instruction on the misconduct of a public official reads as follows:

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