**ORIGINAL
RECEIVED**

APR 26 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

PERRY ROY EICHOR,

Appellant.

Appellant Case No. 2015-001648

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

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

ARGUMENT

Eichor argues it was reversible error for the trial court to decline several of his requested instructions, the discussion of the denial of those requested instructions are segregated into four issues in this brief. The following basic legal concepts apply to the four issues:

When instructing the jury, a trial judge must charge the current and correct law of South Carolina. Daves v. Cleary, 355 S.C. 216, 584 S.E.2d 423 (Ct. App. 2003). A jury charge is accurate if it contains the precise definition and sufficiently charges the law. Id. When an appellate court reviews a jury charge for error, it “must consider the charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial.” Dixon v. Ford, 362 S.C. 614, 619, 608 S.E.2d 879, 882 (Ct. App. 2005).

To warrant reversal, a trial court’s refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728 (2008); State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002). The appellant’s case must have been prejudiced in order to reverse an appellant’s verdict on the basis of an erroneous jury charge. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 415, 649 S.E.2d 41, 55 (Ct. App. 2007); Brown v. Pearson, 326 S.C. 409, 417, 483 S.E.2d 477, 481 (Ct. App. 1997) (holding “[a]n error not shown to be prejudicial does not constitute grounds for reversal”). “A trial judge’s refusal to provide specific jury instructions is not reversible error if the general instructions are sufficiently broad to enable the jury to understand the law and the issues involved.” State v. Hughey, 339 S.C. 439, 452, 529 S.E.2d 721, 728 (2000) *overruled on other grounds by* Rosemund v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 680 S.E.2d 5 (2009).

I.

The trial court did not err by refusing to charge the jury that to prove obstruction of justice or misconduct of a public official, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt the communication was made for the purpose of issuing a threat or the defendant knew the communication would be viewed as a threat because threat is not an element of either offense. (Appellant's Issue #1).

While instructing the jury on the offense of intimidation of a public official, the trial court gave the following instruction on threat:

It is unlawful for a person by threat or force to intimidate or impede a judge . . . in the discharge of his duties as such or to destroy, impede or attempt to obstruct or impede the administration of justice of any court. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the communication was made by the Defendant for the purpose of issuing a threat or that the Defendant knew that the communication would be viewed as a threat.

ROA. p. 225, lines 5-17.

Eichor alleges this instruction should have been provided for the other two charges. However, neither obstruction of justice nor misconduct in office requires the State prove a threat was made. Eichor's actions could be interpreted as a violation of both laws regardless of whether his illegal conversation with Judge Sharff was considered a threat.

Eichor relies on United States v. Elonis, 135 S.Ct. 2001 (2015). However, in Elonis, the federal statute being examined, 18 U.S.C.A. § 875(c), specifically required proof of a threat. The federal statute proscribed the following conduct: “[w]hoever transmits in interstate or foreign commerce any communication containing any threat to kidnap any person or any threat to injure the person of another, shall be fined under this title or

imprisoned not more than five years, or both.” § 875(c).

For the jury charge on obstruction of justice, the trial judge instructed the jury, as follows:

The Defendant is charged with obstruction of justice. The State must first prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed an act which prevented, obstructed, impeded or hindered the administration of justice. The State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant did the act with intent to obstruct justice. The Defendant does not have to succeed in the effort to obstruct justice. It is enough that some act was done in furtherance of the attempt to obstruct justice. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed some act in furtherance of his endeavor to obstruct justice.

ROA. p. 224, line 14 – p. 225, line 2. The trial court’s instruction is almost identical to the South Carolina Judicial Department’s suggested jury instruction on obstruction of justice.¹ Neither the trial judge nor the Judicial Department obstruction of justice jury instructions include a discussion of a threat.

A threat is not an element of obstruction of justice. State v. Lyles-Gray, 328 S.C. 458, 464, 492 S.E.2d 802, 806 (Ct. App. 1997) (“Indeed, a person can commit obstruction of justice by use of force or threats; however, such conduct is neither an essential element of, nor the only means of committing, the crime of common-law obstruction of justice.”). Rather, common-law obstruction of justice is defined as, “an offense to do any act which

¹ S.C. Judicial Department website suggests that a jury should be charged on obstruction of justice, as follows:

The Defendant is charged with obstruction of justice. The State must first prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant committed an act which prevented, obstructed, impeded or hindered the administration of justice. The State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant did the act with the intent to obstruct justice. The defendant does not have to succeed in the effort to obstruct justice. It is enough if some act is done in furtherance of the attempt to obstruct justice. (<http://www.judicial.state.sc.us/juryCharges/GSInstructions.2015.pdf>) (p.243)(last visited March 28, 2016).

prevents, obstructs, impedes, or hinders the administration of justice.” State v. Cogdell, 273 S.C. 563, 567, 257 S.E.2d 748, 750 (1979).

Eichor’s meeting with Judge Sharff, in which he discussed a pending case, may be found by the trier of fact to be an obstruction of justice regardless of whether he intended to communicate a threat because “any act” done with the intent to obstruct justice meets the elements of the offense. Eichor’s conversation may reasonably be construed to influence how Judge Sharff handled the case, which is sufficient to establish Eichor’s guilt for the obstruction of justice charge.

Turning to the misconduct of a public official charge, the trial court instructed the jury, as follows:

Misconduct in office occurs when a person in public office fails to properly and faithfully discharge a duty owed by law. Existence of a duty owed to public is essential to sustain a conviction of misconduct in office. Otherwise, if any behavior is merely a private misconduct of one who happens to be an official. Misconduct includes an act, the omission and the breach of duty of public concern by persons in public office provided it was done willfully and dishonestly. Public officers must be impervious to corrupting influences and they must transact their business frankly and openly in the light of public scrutiny so that the public may know and be able to judge them and their work fairly. To find the Defendant guilty of misconduct in office, you must find that he acted with dishonesty and corruption.

ROA. p. 225, line 18 – p. 226, line 11.

This instruction was taken almost completely verbatim from the South Carolina Supreme Court’s opinion in State v. Hess, 279 S.C. 14, 20, 301 S.E.2d 547, 550-51 (1983). In Hess, the Supreme Court adopted the rationale of leading New Jersey Supreme Court

decisions, finding:

Misconduct in office occurs when duties imposed by law have not been properly and faithfully discharged. The existence of a duty owed to the public is essential, for otherwise the offending behavior becomes merely the private misconduct of one who happens to be an official. The jury instruction of the trial court in this case satisfactorily stated the rule as follows: “Misconduct includes any act, any omission, in breach of duty of public concern by persons in public office provided it is done wilfully and dishonestly.”

Id. (citation omitted). The Court noted that New Jersey courts require a breach of a duty by a public official in order for a criminal indictment for official misconduct to be sufficient. Id. The Court quoted with approval New Jersey authority that defined a public officer’s duty of accountability as follows:

Public officers must be impervious to corrupting influences and they must transact their business frankly and openly in the light of public scrutiny so that the public may know and be able to judge them and their work fairly.

Id. (quoting Driscoll v. Burlington-Bristol Bridge Co., 86 A.2d 201, 221 (N.J. 1952)). Thus, in the instant case, the trial judge properly charged the jury as to the current and correct law of South Carolina.

Similar to obstruction of justice, a threat is not an element of misconduct in office. The crux of official misconduct is a breach of a duty by a public official. The evidence established Eichor breached the duty of accountability. Eichor acknowledged he was aware of this duty during his interview with law enforcement where he informed Agent Donohue that it would be improper for Eichor to meet privately with Judge Sharff to discuss city business. The duty of accountability was breached when Eichor met privately with Judge

Sharff to discuss Dixie Nance's charge and seek out Judge Sharff's mindset. The evidence shows Eichor breached his duty of accountability by merely conversing with Judge Sharff on a case potentially going before Judge Sharff.

A jury instruction is sufficient if, when considered as a whole, it covers the law applicable to the case. State v. Burton, 302 S.C. 494, 397 S.E.2d 90 (1990); State v. Smith, 315 S.C. 547, 554, 446 S.E.2d 411, 415 (1994) (noting the substance of the law, not any particular verbiage, must be charged to the jury); State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994) (finding reversal is not warranted where the charge given is substantially correct and covers the applicable law).

The trial court did not err in declining to instruct the jury on threat for obstruction of justice and misconduct by an official because the charges do not contain the element of a threat.

II.

The trial court did not err by refusing to charge the jury that evidence of good character may in and of itself create doubt as to the defendant's guilt because the record was devoid of evidence of Appellant's good character, but the trial court nonetheless gave a good character charge that was accurate and sufficiently charged the law. (Appellant's Issues #2 and #5).

Eichor complains the trial court erred in not instructing the jury with Eichor's requested charge for evidence of good character. However, no evidence supports an instruction for good character, and the trial court's instruction to the jury sufficiently charged the jury on evidence of good character.

"Generally, where requested and there is evidence of good character, a defendant is entitled to an instruction to the effect that evidence of good character and good reputation may in and of itself create a doubt as to guilt and should be considered by the jury, along with all the other evidence, in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant." State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 240, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982) (citing State v. Lyles, 210 S.C. 87, 41 S.E.2d 625 (1947)). To warrant reversal, a trial court's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 667 S.E.2d 728 (2008); State v. Burkhardt, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002).

In State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 418, 649 S.E.2d 41, 57 (Ct. App. 2007), this Court held the defendant was entitled to a jury charge on use of evidence of her good character. The trial court declined to issue a jury charge regarding good character even though the defendant called two witnesses who testified to the defendant's good character.

and reputation in the community. Id. at 410, 649 S.E.2d at 53. This Court found the trial court erred in denying the defendant's request of the good character charge because the defendant presented evidence of her good character and requested a charge on that evidence. Id. at 411.

In the instant case, Eichor did not call any witnesses to testify to his good character nor did he present any other evidence of his good character during the trial. Eichor's attorney attempted and failed to elicit testimony establishing Eichor's good character from two of the State's witnesses.

While cross-examining Marie Boone, Eichor's attorney asked Boone about Eichor's reputation at City Hall with respect to his character for honesty. The State objected, but Eichor's attorney observed, "[s]he's about to answer no, so that might help. She's shaking her head." ROA. p. 40, line 24 – p. 41, line 6. Therefore, the record establishes Boone was unaware of Eichor's reputation for honesty and Eichor's attorney failed to elicit testimony from her on Eichor's character.

Character was explored one more time, during Eichor's cross-examination of Agent Donohue, in the following line of questioning:

Q: Okay. So, the good character of my client is not relevant to this case?

A: I was not looking at his character. I was looking at whether or not a crime occurred or not.

Q: Right. But to answer my question, you're saying that my client's good character is not relevant to this case?

A: It has relevancy to it, yes.

Q: So it does now?

A: No, everybody's character is relevant when you're doing an investigation.

ROA. p. 117, line 21 – p. 118, line 6. Agent Donohue did not deny that character could be relevant, but he did not testify as to Eichor's character, so no evidence was elicited supporting an instruction on good character.

Unlike Lee-Grigg, not even one witness testified to Eichor's good character or reputation in the community. Since Eichor presented no evidence of his good character, the trial court did not have to instruct the jury about evidence of good character. See Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 390, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) ("When instructing the jury, the trial court is required to charge only principles of law that apply to the issues raised in the pleadings and developed by the evidence in support of those issues.").

Despite the absence of evidence of Eichor's good character, the trial court still provided the following instruction:

Now, ladies and gentlemen, in your consideration of this case, you may consider evidence of the Defendant's character along with all the evidence in deciding whether or not the Defendant committed the crime.

ROA. p. 226, lines 20-24.

Although the charge was not a direct resuscitation of the law from State v. Green, 278 S.C. 239, 294 S.E.2d 335 (1982), the charge was accurate as it sufficiently charges the law. Moreover, the trial court was under no obligation to even charge the jury on good character because Eichor failed to present character evidence. Thus, the trial court did not err because its jury instruction on good character was neither erroneous nor prejudicial because the trial

court did not have to charge the law and the charge, as given, was accurate.

III.

The court did not err by refusing to charge the jury that where a communication has both a threatening and nonthreatening interpretation the State has the burden to present evidence to remove the ambiguity because a trial judge is only required to charge the jury on South Carolina law. (Appellant's Issue #3).

Eichor argues that the trial court erred in declining his instruction on analyzing the existence of an ambiguity vis-a-vis, the State's burden to prove the offenses beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court extensively and correctly instructed the jury on the State's burden of proof and the presumption of innocence, and further correctly instructed the jury on the elements of the offenses. As discussed in Issue I, threat is not an element of misconduct by a public official or obstruction of justice, and evidence supports that Eichor committed the offenses even if his statements were not construed as a threat.

A judge is only required to charge the jury on the current and correct law of South Carolina. Further, precedent set by federal circuit courts is not binding on this Court. State v. Al-Amin, 353 S.C. 405, 578 S.E.2d 32 (Ct. App. 2003) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Broadnax*, 414 S.C. 468, 779 S.E.2d 789 (2015). Eichor requested the trial judge charge the jury on law from United States v. Barclay, 452 F.2d 930 (8th Cir. 1971). Since Barclay is not South Carolina law, the trial judge had no obligation to charge the jury on it.

The requested instruction was as follows:

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